1981

State of Utah v. Donald Leon Malmrose : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an appeal from the Honorable Calvin Gould's denial of appellant's motion for a new trial.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Appellant was convicted by a jury of forcible sexual abuse. He was sentenced to the Utah State Prison. A motion for new trial was denied.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant requests this Court to reverse the conviction and grant a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 16, 1980, Brooke Williams was sexually assaulted while jogging on a running course at Weber

State College. She reported the assault to Weber State police and gave a description of her assailant. On April 17, 1980, Mrs. Williams was shown a group of mug shots in an attempt to identify her assailant. From these pictures she picked out four individuals she thought resembled him. (Suppression Hearing 9) The mug shots were returned to the Ogden City Police Department without a record being kept. (T 118) On July 1, 1980, the complaining witness was shown seven drivers license photos which she mistakenly thought contained the same four pictures as before. She narrowed these to two possible suspects. (Suppression Hearing 10) While reviewing this group of pictures, Mrs. Williams was told by the police that none of the men were "nice guys". (Suppression Hearing 12, 31) She requested a recent photograph of one of these men and the next day the police showed her a Mound Fort Junior High school yearbook open to a page where the defendant was pictured alone with the basketball team. (T 83, 84) After looking at the yearbook photograph, she was informed that defendant had committed a sex offense in California. (Suppression Hearing 24) An identification was obtained.

On September 9, 1980, the complaining witness picked the defendant out of a lineup at the police station and he was arrested. The lineup was eventually

suppressed by Judge John F. Wahlquist because it was conducted in violation of State statute. (Suppression Hearing 43)

The first photograph display did not contain a picture of the defendant. (T 166) Throughout the proceedings, Mrs. Williams maintained that she picked out the defendant from the first group of mug shots on April 17, 1980. (Suppression Hearing 10) The police officers said she was not shown a picture of the defendant until July 1, 1980. (T 118)

Defendant's trial commenced February 9, 1981 on the charge of forcible sexual abuse, a third-degree felony. During the voir dire of the jury, prospective juror Hunter made the following statements:

"I have a son who is a principal in an elementary school. It might be better if I didn't listen to this." (T 11)

Speaking of her acquaintance with George Handy, a State's witness, she said: "My acquaintance is casual. I would believe what he said, yes". (T 13)

When the Court asked her whether she would subject George Handy to the same scrutiny as other witnesses, her answer was "probably". (T 14)

"I might be prejudice in this way, that I think where schools are involved there shouldn't be any question involved about teacher propriety." (T 29)

When asked whether there was any reason any of the jurors would not want to hear the case, she said: "I would prefer not to". (T 31)

Prospective juror Widdison was asked whether he had made up his mind based upon what he had read in the newspaper. He replied: "Not totally. I'm sure it's bias". (T 29) When questioned further about his ability to be fair, he only said: "I believe I could". When asked if he would be inclined to give a speedy decision because of his pending vacation, he answered "probably". (T 30)

The Court denied defendant's challenge for cause on both of these jurors. (T 33) Defendant used a peremptory challenge to eliminate prospective juror Hunter. (R 583) Juror Widdison was selected to try the case. (R 583)

Other jurors selected to try the case gave troublesome responses during the voir dire. Juror Austin said she has occasionally been assaulted by her husband, and further indicated she might have problems with a younger lady in a sexual assault case because of her own family difficulties. (T 26, 27, 31)

Juror Stockwell indicated his brother-in-law was on the Highway Patrol and his daughter was attending Weber State College. (T 17)

Juror Wood lived in the same neighborhood and attends the same church ward as prosecutor Michael Glasmann. When asked if it would make any difference, he responded: "I could probably assure

them that it wouldn't". (emphasis supplied) (T 10)
The Court then suggested that defense counsel might want to pursue this line of questioning: Defense counsel failed to do so. Juror Wood also said he knew James Gaskill, George Handy and Brian Stromberg who were prospective State witnesses. None of these potential problem areas were pursued by Court or counsel.

Juror Poulter admitted to a hearing problem. She said she could hear the prosecutor, but sometimes couldn't hear the others which apparently included the Court and defense counsel... (T 23) When she was asked by the Court if she had any immediate family in police work, her response was: "Yes, he has one daughter teaching here -- well, here in Ogden.. (T 19) It was apparent from the response that she did not hear the Judge's question. Jurors Stockwell, Wood and Poulter were all selected to try the case. (R 583)

After the jury was selected, the Court read instructions 1 through 10 which included the instructions on the presumption of innocence and credibility of witnesses. (T 35, 506) These instructions were not given again at the conclusion of the three-day trial.

During defense counsel's opening statement, he said:

"I would just like to bring out that the only reason that Mr. Malmrose is before you is through a series of coincidences. A coincidence where his car was parked allowed the police to take his license number. The license number in turn was pulled because his car was parked in an area where they had some problems with men exposing themselves." (T 44)

Evidence was not introduced to support this allegation.

During the trial, James Gaskill testified about conducting certain laboratory tests. The substance of the testimony was that the blood type obtained from defendant's saliva sample matched the blood type in the assailant's semen found on the body of the complaining witness. Also, both specimens contained the H antigen which shows they are secretors. His written report was offered and admitted into evidence. (T 150)

Dr. David Dodd, a Ph.D. psychologist, proffered expert testimony on behalf of defendant on the many problems and misconceptions involved in evaluating the accuracy of eyewitness identifications. Dr. Dodd maintained that education, special training, and intelligence are not meaningful factors in assessing the accuracy of such an identification. The prosecutor went into great detail establishing the educational background, special training and supposed high intelligence of the complaining witness. The purpose of this testimony was to infer that she possessed a

superior ability to perceive and accurately recall. The Court refused to allow Dr. Dodd to testify to the jury. (T 170)

Prior to the trial, defendant filed his Notice of Alibi as required by statute. The State called four rebuttal witnesses to defendant's alibi. At no time did the prosecutor file a reciprocal Notice of Alibi as required by statute.

During the cross-examination of defendant, the prosecutor asked:

"Do you recall making the statements to them (the police), I'm a voyeur, but I wouldn't assault anyone." (T 358)

A timely objection was made and the Court ruled in defendant's favor, but denied a request for a cautionary instruction. (T 363)

One of the State's rebuttal witnesses was Mark Eubank. He testified concerning the weather on April 16, 1980 which was brought into issue during the presentation of defendant's alibi. His entire presentation was from the reports of other people in the Ogden area. This is mentioned because the defendant argues herein that the presentation was hearsay.

Florence Stowe was initially called by the defendant. She testified that defendant was at work at Mound Fort Junior High school on April 16, 1980, and that she could remember the day because she had

ordered some cream pies for a church meeting that night and recorded this fact in a personal journal. The prosecutor recalled Mrs. Stowe in rebuttal and asked her to read the dates of the last two entries in her journal which were March 30, 1980 and April 26, 1980. (T 471) Mr. Glasmann asked no further questions and created the impression that she was mistaken about the date in her earlier testimony. Mrs. Stowe's journal entry on April 26, 1980 specifically referred to the date of the church function as April 16, 1980. (R 641)

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on February 11, 1981 after three days of trial.

On February 25, 1981, the Court sentenced the defendant to the Utah State Prison. A motion for new trial was timely filed by new counsel for the defendant. The motion was denied by the Court on April 3, 1981.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 12 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

Many of the issues raised in this appeal were not properly preserved by defense counsel at trial. As subsequent matters are discussed in this Brief,

that fact will be noted, but further authority will not be cited except as set forth in this Point.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides:

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the assistance of counsel for his defense."

Article I, Section 12 of the Utah State Constitution similarly provides:

"In criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right to appeal and defend in person and by counsel. . ."

As a general rule, a judgment of conviction will not be invalidated because of inexperience or unskillfulness on the part of defense counsel or because of error in judgment on his part.

In Herring v. Estelle, 491 F. 2d 125 (5th Cir. 1974), the Court held that the governing standard should be "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel. The Sixth Circuit has adopted the following standard:

"The assistance of counsel required under the Sixth Amendment is counsel reasonably likely to render effective assistance." Beasley v. United States, 491 F. 2d 687 (6th Cir. 1974)

In United States v. Bosch, 584 F. 2d 113 (1st Cir. 1978), a narcotics trial, defense counsel introduced into evidence a pre-trial motion for reduction of bail. The motion disclosed defendant's

two other narcotics convictions. It was offered to prove that defendant had been in court on the date it was filed; however, defense counsel did not attempt to delete the reference to his client's prior crimes. During deliberation, the jury informed the trial Judge that the fact of defendant's prior convictions had influenced its opinion of his character. Counsel did not request a limiting instruction or demand a mistrial. Defendant was convicted. On appeal, the Bosch Court reversed and adopted the "reasonably competent assistance standard". The Court held that the quality of defense counsel's representations must be within the range of competence expected of attorneys in criminal cases. The standard in Utah was adopted in State v. McNichol, 554 P. 2d 203 (1976).

In footnote five of State v. Gray, 601 P. 2d 918 (1979), the Court stated:

"We do not mean to be understood as saying that a defendant can only succeed in showing that he was deprived of counsel by showing that his attorney's failures reduced his trial to "a farce or a mockery of justice". We agree with the dissent that the standard should be as stated in State v. McNichol. . . that the right to counsel "is not satisfied by a sham or pretense" of an attorney, but an accused is "entitled to the assistance of a competent member of the Bar who shows a willingness to identify himself with the interests of the accused and present such defenses as are available."

In State v. Smith, 621 P. 2d 697 (1980), this Court considered whether the lack of fair assistance of counsel could be treated as harmless error. The Court said:

"But the assistance of counsel is among those constitutional rights so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error."
At page 699.

It is submitted that the errors of defendant's counsel at trial went beyond errors of judgment or mistake of tactics and fell below the threshold of competence expected of lawyers in criminal trials.

POINT TWO

DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF JURORS HUNTER AND WIDDISON SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUSTAINED.

During the jury voir dire, prospective jurors Hunter and Widdison each expressed a state of mind which indicated they could not act impartially if selected.

Juror Hunter made the following statements:

"I have a son who is a principal in an elementary school. It might be better if I didn't listen to this." (T 11)

Speaking of her acquaintance with George Handy, a State's witness, she said: "My acquaintance is casual. I would believe what he said, yes". (T 13)

When the Court asked her whether she would subject George Handy to the same scrutiny as other witnesses, her answer was "probably". (T 14)

"I might be prejudice in this way, that I think where schools are involved there shouldn't be any question involved about teacher propriety." (T 29)

When asked whether there was any reason any of the jurors would not want to hear the case, she said: "I would prefer not to". (T 31)

Juror Widdison was asked whether he had made up his mind based upon what he had read in the newspaper. He replied: "Not totally. I'm sure it's bias". (T 29) When questioned further about his ability to be fair, Mr. Widdison only said: "I believe I could". When asked if he would be inclined to give a speedy decision because of his pending vacation, he answered: "probably". (T 30) It should be noted that Mr. Widdison's vacation was scheduled to start before the trial actually ended. (T 24)

Defense counsel challenged both jurors for cause. The Court denied the challenge. (T 33) Defendant used a peremptory challenge to eliminate Mrs. Hunter. (R 583) Mr. Widdison was selected and tried the case. (R 583)

Rule 19(14), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, allows a challenge for cause provided:

"[t]hat a state of mind exists on the part of the juror with reference to the cause, or to either party, which will prevent him from acting impartially and without prejudice to substantial rights of the party challenging. . ."

In State v. Brooks, 563 P. 2d 799 (1977), the

Utah Supreme Court held it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny defense counsel challenge for cause when the record indicated a relationship of affection, respect, or esteem for some of the State's witnesses. The Court went on to say that even though the potential jurors stated they would set aside these relationships and decide the case without bias, it would run counter to human nature not to believe those personal associations would influence their decisions.

Jenkins v. Parrish, No. 15905, filed March 13, 1981, considered the trial Court's refusal to remove a juror for cause who indicated she would give more weight to the testimony of a doctor simply because he was a doctor. Upon further questioning by the Court, the juror conceded that if the doctor's testimony was not in accord with the other evidence, she would accept the other evidence.

In granting a new trial, the Utah Supreme Court said:

"Although Mrs. Eddins expressed a desire and ability to remain fair and impartial once all the evidence was presented, her statements do not alter the fact that she indicated that her background would cause her to place greater credence in a doctor's testimony simply because of his status as a doctor. A statement made by a juror that she intends to be fair and impartial loses much of its meaning in light of other testimony and facts which suggest a bias."

It is submitted that jurors Hunter and Widdison

indicated a state of mind that would prevent them from acting impartially. Despite what curative questions might have subsequently been asked by the Court, it "would run counter to human nature" (Brooks, supra) not to believe that their expressed bias would influence their decision.

POINT THREE

THE ENTIRE JURY VOIR DIRE BY THE COURT AND DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INADEQUATE.

Many areas of potential bias and competency were inadequately explored by the Court or counsel.

Juror Austin said that on occasion she had been assaulted by her husband, and further indicated she might have problems with a younger lady in a sexual assault case because of her own family difficulties. (T 26, 27, 31)

Juror Stockwell's brother-in-law was on the Highway Patrol and his daughter was attending Weber State College. (T 17)

Juror Wood lived in the same neighborhood and attends the same church ward as prosecutor Michael Glasmann. When asked if it would make any difference, he responded: "I would probably assure them that it wouldn't". (emphasis supplied) (T 10)

The Court then suggested that defense counsel might want to pursue this line of questioning. Defense

counsel failed to do so. Juror Wood also said he knew James Gaskill, George Handy and Brian Stromberg who were prospective State witnesses. There was no follow-up concerning the nature of these relationships. (T 13)

Juror Poulter admitted to a hearing problem. She said she could hear the prosecutor, but sometimes couldn't hear the others which apparently included the Court and defense counsel. (T 23) This hearing problem was made apparent when the Court asked her if any of her immediate family were in police work. Her answer was not at all responsive to this question which shows she could not hear the proceedings. (T 19) Jurors Stockwell, Wood and Poulter were selected to try the case. (R 583)

POINT FOUR

UNNECESSARY PREJUDICIAL SUGGESTION ABOUT DEFENDANT TOOK PLACE DURING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S OPENING STATEMENT.

During defense counsel's opening statement, he said:

"I would just like to bring out that the only reason that Mr. Malmrose is before you is through a series of coincidences. A coincidence where his car was parked allowed the police to take his license number. The license number in turn was pulled because his car was parked in an area where they had some problems with men exposing themselves."

Evidence was not introduced to support this statement.

It is obvious the State could not have properly introduced such evidence. It's possible that it might be considered a tactical error on part of defense counsel, but it is difficult to see how this statement could have assisted the defendant under any circumstances. On the other hand, it created the risk that the jury would assume the defendant had been involved in other sexual offenses on other occasions because of his proximity to the scene of unrelated crimes. It would appear that this statement falls within the same type of conduct by defense counsel as mentioned in Point One, United States v. Bosch, supra.

POINT FIVE

THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DISALLOWING THE TESTIMONY OF DAVID DODD.

The Court refused to allow the proffered expert testimony of Dr. David Dodd, a Ph.D. psychologist on the many problems and misconceptions involved in evaluating the accuracy of eyewitness identifications. Dr. Dodd maintained that education, special training, and intelligence are not meaningful factors in assessing the accuracy of such an identification. (T 164) In other words, these factors do not improve a person's ability to perceive or recall an incident although most laymen, including jurors, erroneously

believe the reverse is true. It should be noted the complaining witness is a highly educated woman with several advanced degrees including a degree in Police Science. Judge John F. Wahlquist, at the suppression hearing, made the following Finding of Fact:

"It is necessary to recognize the general character of this particular crime. This particular crime victim, from the standpoint of a prosecuting witness, is almost ideal. She has a master's degree in a related field which would cause her to guard, to be careful, and to be alert. She's at her prime in life. She appears to be in excellent health. Her vision appears to be good at short distances. At the time of her assault, there were no distracting forces such as other third parties. There was some striking, but there was no evidence of any unconsciousness or anything of the sort. There is every reason to believe that this is an above average intelligent woman who has been carefully trained by the fates of life to be what she is now, and that is a crime victim witness. This is her status. The record also shows that she has throughout been considerably cautious as far as identification is concerned." (Suppression Hearing 41, 42)

In the recent case, State v. Griffin, No. 16669, filed February 20, 1981, the Utah Supreme Court upheld the trial Court's refusal to allow testimony of a psychologist as an expert witness to testify about the credibility of eyewitness identification. In Griffin, this Court indicated that the use of expert testimony on the merits of

eyewitness identification was within the discretion of the trial court and that expert testimony would not ordinarily be allowed in areas equally within the knowledge of jurors.

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