1981

# State of Utah v. Donald Leon Malmrose : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

While there is some dispute as to when the witness first identified appellant's picture, such uncertainty is not a misidentification, but is a failure to recall when the photo lineup occurred. Any discrepancies such as this go only to the credibility of the testimony -- not to its competency. State v. Long, 29 Utah 2d 177 506 P.2d 1269 (1973). State v. Gosby, 85 Wash. 2d 758, 539 P.2d 680 (1975). Here the discrepancies noted by appellant only affect credibility which has already been determined by the jury.

The fact that the exact composition of a group of photographs shown to the witness could not be recalled does not prevent a determination as to suggestiveness and any resulting identification may still be used. State v. Volberding, 30 Utah 2d 257, 516 P.2d 359 (1973). In Volberding, as here, the pictures used had been returned to police files. There was no evidence of negligence nor was there a showing of any intentional suppression of evidence in order to undermine the rights of the appellant. In Volberding, this court ruled there was no taint. The same rule should apply in this case.

The police officers did make some unfortunate comments regarding persons whose pictures were shown to the witness. Respondent avers that those comments had no influence on the witness and were not sufficient to taint the identifications.

Even after the comments of the police officers, the witness refused to make a positive identification, asking instead for a more recent photograph of one, to assure that he

was the assailant. The witness is intelligent, with a Masters degree in Criminal Justice, and is not likely to be influenced by such comments. Comments similar to those made by the police officers will taint an identification only if they are so "suggestive or persuasive that there is a reasonable likelihood that identification was not a genuine product of knowledge and recollection of the witness, but was something so distorted or tainted that defendant should not be identified because of fairness." State v. Perry, 27 Utah 2d 48, 492 P.2d 1349, 1352 (1972).

Examination of the identifications in the case reveals no such showing here. There is no reasonable likelihood of an identification that was a product of the comments. In Manson v. Braethwaite, supra, the United States Supreme Court stated that due process does not compel the exclusion of pretrial identification evidence obtained by a suggestive and unnecessary police identification procedure so long as, under the totality of the circumstances, the identification is reliable. 432 U.S. at 114. Here none of the photos, or men in the lineup were singled out by the police. Their comments did not go towards the identification of any one person. The unfortunate comments were directed not at appellant's photograph, but at all the photos. Thus, they did not taint the identification of appellant. In State v. Wilson, Utah 608 P.2d 1237 (1980, this court, commenting on a similar situation said: ". . . even if the process helped in identifying defendant, it would

not be impermissible unless it could be shown that some external, suggestive influence tainted the identification." 608 P.2d at 1239.

The yearbook photograph was not suggestive. It was shown to the witness only after she asked for a more recent photograph of one of the men. It was not shown to her as part of a photo lineup and was not suggestive because of its use for a limited purpose.

It should be noted that the identification at the lineup was suppressed -- not because of any taint or suggestiveness, but because police officers failed to record the proceeding as required by Utah Code Ann., § 77-8-4 (Supp. 1981) (T. 707).

There was no taint in the pretrial identifications. Judge Wahlquist ruled that the photos were look-alikes as required (T. 705). He ruled that they were within the standards set down by the United States Supreme Court and were sufficient (T. 706). He also ruled that the later identification at the preliminary hearing was not a product of the lineup, but a product of the look-alike characteristics (T. 707), and the confrontation at the scene of the crime.

Since the lineup was suppressed because of the failure to make a record and not because of any taint, there was no taint which carried over to the in-court identification. The encounter with the defendant at the time of the crime provided an adequate, independent source on which the witness could

base the in-court identification. In State v. Harris, 26 Utah 2d 365, 489 P.2d 1008 (1971), this court ruled such an in-court identification admissible when the record showed, as here, that the identification was based on observations from a source independent of the lineup. Even if there was taint from the lineup or photo identifications, that taint was overcome. See Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963).

United States v. Wade, relied on by appellant, is inapposite. The Wade decision only requires that the state prove the lack of taint of an in-court identification if the illegal lineup was due to the lack of counsel at the lineup -- not the failure to keep a record. State v. Peyton, 493 P.2d 1393 (Ore. App. 1972). Here the appellant was not arrested until after the lineup and he had no counsel to represent him at the lineup.

Finally, respondent submits that even if there was some "suggestiveness," there was no harm from that suggestiveness. The photographic identifications were harmless error if error at all. The issue is whether the identification appreciably affects the jury verdict; what the error might have meant to the jury. Love v. State, Alaska, 457 P.2d 622 (1969). Here there is sufficient evidence to sustain the conviction without the photographic or pretrial identifications.

Appellant failed to object at trial to the identifications by the witness, and may not now complain on appeal. The

identifications were not unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable misidentification. They were reliable and meet all tests required to establish freedom from taint. There were no errors that justify reversal.

#### POINT VII

THE LABORATORY REPORT WRITTEN BY  
JAMES GASKILL WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED  
INTO EVIDENCE.

Respondent submits that the written report in dispute was not objected to at trial and was properly admitted. Defense counsel failed to object to the introduction of this report into evidence. In fact, defense counsel affirmatively stated, after examination of the report, that he had no objection to its introduction (T. 150). Even hearsay is competent where no objection is made. Rule 4, U.R.E.

The reason that defense counsel had no objection is because the report was properly admissible into evidence. The report merely stated in writing the facts testified to by Mr. Gaskill. The report would be admissible under Rule 63(13), U.R.E. as a business records entry. This report was made during the laboratory examination as part of the normal procedure, and its circumstances indicate its trustworthiness.

The failure to object appeared to be a tactical choice of the defense attorney. He was offered an opportunity to object. He had previously stipulated to Mr. Gaskill's qualifications as an expert witness and apparently did not feel that making the futile objection would be beneficial.

However, even if the report was erroneously admitted into evidence, it will be treated as harmless error absent a showing that it had substantial influence in bringing about the verdict. Rule 4, U.R.E.

In State v. Echevarrieta, Utah 621 P.2d 709 (1980), this court reiterated the following rule:

That the trial court has considerable discretion as to the admissibility of evidence and that the erroneous admission of evidence, standing alone, is insufficient to set aside a verdict unless it "had a substantial influence in bringing about the verdict," see Bambrough v. Bethers, Utah, 552 P.2d 1286 (1976).

621 P.2d at 713 n.11.

Appellant has made no showing that the admission of this evidence, even if erroneous, had a substantial influence on the verdict. this report was not, as appellant claims, the only physical evidence that had any connection to the defendant. Other physical evidence which was also available to the jury included photographs, the police report, the witness's own written report, the cotton swab and other items.

There was no objection at trial and there is no ground for objection at this stage of appellant's appeal.

#### POINT VIII

THE QUESTION BY THE PROSECUTOR AS TO WHETHER DEFENDANT TOLD POLICE HE WAS A VOYEUR WAS NOT A REFERENCE TO PRIOR CRIMINAL MISCONDUCT AND THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO GIVE A CAUTIONARY INSTRUCTION WAS NOT ERROR.

Appellant relies heavily on, and quotes extensively from, United States v. Diaz, 585 F.2d 116 (5th Cir. 1978).

Respondent asserts that such reliance is misplaced and the case is inapplicable. Diaz deals with reference to a prior conviction of the defendant for the same offense. Information about that prior conviction was elicited by his own defense counsel. The prosecutor questioned the defendant further concerning the convictions for the limited purpose of showing intent and to attack defendant's character which was put in issue. Neither counsel requested a limiting instruction by the court so the issue on appeal was whether in such a case, the trial judge should give such a limiting instruction, sua sponte. None of these factors are present in the case at bar. Appellant complains tha the judge should have granted defense counsel's motion for a cautionary instruction.

In State v. Valdez, 30 Utah 2d 54, 513 P.2d 422 (1973), this court stated that counsel are to be afforded wide latitude in their arguments to the jury. The Valdez court also set forth the test to determine whether a given remark is prejudicial:

The test of whether the remarks made by counsel are so objectionable as to merit a reversal in a criminal case is, did the remarks call to the attention of the jurors matters which they would not be justified in considering in determining their verdict, and were they, under the circumstances of the particular case, probably influenced by those remarks. The determination of whether the improper remarks have influenced a verdict is within the sound discretion of the trial court on motion for a new trial. If there be no abuse of this discretion and substantial justice appears to have been done, the appellate court will not reverse the judgment.

Id. at 426 (emphasis added).

There is no indication that the jurors were influenced by the prosecutor's comment. The lack of prejudice to appellant is demonstrated by the trial judge's refusal to grant a new trial. He stated in his Memorandum Decision that at that point when the statement was made: "The jury had already been instructed that counsel's statements were not evidence. To have granted a cautionary admonition would only have drawn further attention thereto. Defendant's counsel did not want a mistrial order made based on that question" (R. 639).

It is important to note that it is the responsibility of the trial court to determine if improper arguments were prejudicial or harmless. The Supreme Court has reiterated continuously that they will give great deference to the judgment of the trial court. In State v. Hodges, 30 Utah 2d 367, 517 P.2d 1322 (1974), the prosecutor asked a question which was clearly objectionable. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial. The trial court ruled that the prosecutor's conduct was not so prejudicial as to violate the defendant's right to a fair trial, and denied the motion. The defendant appealed. After commenting that, "[the action of the prosecutor] is certainly not to be commended," the Utah Supreme Court noted that the real issue on appeal was whether to sustain the judgment of the trial court. Before affirming the conviction, the court said:

Due to his advantaged position and consistent with his responsibilities as the authority in charge of the trial, the inquiry is necessarily addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court . . . . Inasmuch as

this is his primary responsibility, when he has given due consideration and ruled upon the matter, this court on review should not upset his ruling unless it clearly appears that he has abused his discretion.

30 Utah 2d 367, 369-70.

Appellant has not alleged, nor shown, that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to grant the cautionary instruction and in refusing to grant a new trial.

The prosecutor stated that his intent was not to get into defendant's past criminal record. He only wanted to discuss defendant's character, which was put at issue when the defendant took the stand in his own defense. He did not intend to mention the prior convictions (T. 358). The prosecutor certainly did not use this statement as evidence of defendant's guilt in this case.

The trial court, exercising its discretion, refused a cautionary instruction. The court did not feel there was error sufficient to warrant a new trial. Furthermore, the jury was cautioned in its instructions to not consider such statements as evidence of fact (R. 599). Respondent asserts that the error was not prejudicial and does not warrant a new trial.

#### POINT IX

THE PROSECUTION'S USE OF WITNESSES  
TO REBUT DEFENDANT'S ALIBI WAS  
PROPER.

Utah Code Ann., § 77-14-2 (Supp. 1981), provides:

Alibi--Notice requirements--Witness lists.--(1) A defendant, whether or not written demand has been made, who intends to offer evidence of an alibi shall, not less than ten days before trial or at such other time as the court may allow file and serve on the prosecuting attorney a notice, in writing, of his intention to claim alibi. The notice shall contain specific information as to the place where the defendant claims to have been at the time of the alleged offense and, as particularly as is known to the defendant or his attorney, the names and addresses of the witnesses by whom he proposes to establish alibi. The prosecuting attorney, not more than five days after receipt of the list provided herein or at such other time as the court may direct, shall file and serve the defendant with the addresses, as particularly as are known to him, of the witnesses the state proposes to offer to contradict or impeach the defendant's alibi evidence.

(2) The defendant and prosecuting attorney shall be under a continuing duty to disclose the names and addresses of additional witnesses which come to the attention of either party after filing their alibi witness lists.

(3) If a defendant or prosecuting attorney fails to comply with the requirements of this section, the court may exclude evidence offered to establish or rebut alibi. However, the defendant may always testify on his own behalf concerning alibi.

(4) The court may, for good cause shown, waive the requirements of this section.

Defense counsel failed to disclose the names of all of the alibi witnesses before the ten-day period expired. He also failed to give notice under subsection two, which imposes a "continuing duty to disclose." Now appellant complains that the prosecution failed to give notice of witnesses to rebut the alibi.

Defense counsel did not object to the testimony of the prosecution's witnesses because the court had allowed him to

use a witness that had not been properly listed (T. 320-324). Since defense counsel failed to complain at trial, this issue was not preserved for purposes of this appeal. Furthermore, appellant cannot complain that the prosecution failed to comply with a statute that the appellant himself did not fully obey.

The trial court did not exclude the additional alibi witnesses and did not exclude the State's witnesses to rebut the alibi. The court did not specifically waive the requirements of this statute because it was not made an issue at the trial. Had it been made an issue, the court would likely have made the finding of "good cause" and waived the requirements of the statute (See T. 320-324).

Defense counsel justified his noncompliance with the statute because the prosecution had been on notice for almost four months that an alibi would be established (T. 322). This same reason justified the prosecution's failure to give notice of the rebuttal witnesses. Defense counsel knew they would be called, they were listed at trial as possible witnesses (T. 13), and then were later introduced. Defense counsel never objected to those witnesses because he had notice that they would be called.

Since the defense had made the weather a crucial element of the alibi, he could not have been surprised at the substance of the testimony of the witnesses. He certainly would have known the substance of Mark Eubank's testimony as a

rebuttal witness. Having known about these witnesses in advance, defense counsel had opportunity to talk to each of them prior to trial and he skillfully cross-examined each of them. In short, the purposes of the notice state were met even though the strict requirements were not followed by either side.

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